BEFORE THE
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION



Todd Elliott Kroger					:
:
	v.						:		C-2023-3038703									:
Duquesne Light Company				:
							


FIRST INTERIM ORDER
SUSTAINING PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS IN PART AND DENYING
RESPONDENT’S REQUEST FOR DISMISSAL OF THE COMPLAINT

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

[bookmark: _Hlk136617430][bookmark: _Hlk136608843]On March 2, 2023, Complainant Todd Elliott Kroger (Complainant) filed a Formal Complaint (Complaint) with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) against Duquesne Light Company (DLC).  Complainant in pertinent part alleges that DLC 1) has an ongoing pattern of misconduct and bad faith; 2) knowingly violated agreements at Docket Nos. C-2019-3013238 and C-2020-3020394; 3) knowingly withheld the termination notice in January and February 2023, thereby resulting in LIHEAP CRISIS repeatedly denying Complainant’s grant application; 4) violated federal statutes, i.e., 42 U.S.C. 1981, 1983 and 1985; 5) terminated his electric service without cause on April 28, 2022; 5) conspired with municipal employees to withhold termination notices, resulting in the denial of his LIHEAP grant; and 6) is involved with municipal employees, who are subject to federal and state criminal and civil proceedings.  Complaint ¶ 4.

[bookmark: _Hlk136608086]For relief, Complainant asks the Commission 1) to reopen Docket Nos. C-2019-3013238 and C-2020-3020394; 2) to make him whole; 3) to issue a restraining order against DLC; and 4) to award actual compensatory relief and punitive damages.  Complaint ¶ 5.

DLC filed and served an Answer and Preliminary Objections (PO) on March 23, 2023.  DLC avers in pertinent part as follows.  DLC admits issuing termination notices to the Complainant’s service address, located at 515 Kelly Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15221 in or around February 21, 2023, but the company denies such termination notices were improper.  Duquesne Light denies withholding termination notices from the Complainant.  DLC admits terminating Complainant’s electric service on April 28, 2022, but denies that such termination was improper.  DLC alleges Complainant’s account balance is $324.53, all of which is overdue.  DLC alleges Complainant previously filed four other formal complaints in the last 5 years, and each complaint was closed with the filing of a Certificate of Satisfaction.  DLC denies that the Company has violated the terms of any settlement with the Complainant.  DLC alleges the Company lawfully terminated Complainant’s electric service on April 28, 2022, for an unpaid balance of $439.33.  DLC denies withholding termination notices from the Complainant, and the company asserts the most recent termination notice was issued to the Complainant on February 21, 2023.  DLC denies the remaining material allegations of the Complaint. 

For relief, DLC requests dismissal of the Complaint with prejudice.

In its PO, DLC argues as follows:

1. 	Duquesne Light seeks to dismiss the Complaint in its entirety for two reasons.  First, because the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) lacks jurisdiction to rule on the portions of the formal complaint rooted in the United States Code, 42 USC 1981, 1983, and 1985.  Complaint ¶¶ 4.  Second, the Commission lacks jurisdiction to grant Complainant the requested relief, namely, compensatory, and punitive damages.  Complaint ¶ 5.  Third, the Complaint includes scandalous and impertinent statements that are legally irrelevant and should be stricken. Complaint ¶¶ 4-5

. . . .

[bookmark: _Hlk136608590]27. 	“Scandalous or impertinent matter” is defined as statements that are immaterial and inappropriate to the proof of the cause of action. Common Cause/Pennsylvania v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 710 A.2d 108, 115 (Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 1998); Brennan v. Smith, 299 A.2d 683 (Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 1972). 

28. 	Specifically, Complainant’s references to an alleged conspiracy or misconduct involving municipality employees or lawyers are entirely unrelated to Complainant’s electric utility service. 

29. 	While Duquesne Light denies Complainant’s allegations, those 
allegations are immaterial to his claims, inappropriately raised, and have no bearing on the subject action.

30. 	For these reasons, the Complaint should be dismissed and/or his request for relief should be stricken as impertinent.

PO ¶¶ 1, 27-31.

		Complainant did not file an answer to the PO.[footnoteRef:2] [2:  	An answer to a preliminary objection may be filed within 10 days of date of service.  52 Pa.Code § 5.101(f)(1).] 


		On April 27, 2023, the PO were assigned to me for ruling.

DISCUSSION

Legal Principles

The Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure permit parties to file preliminary objections.  See 52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a).  Grounds for preliminary objections, in pertinent part, include the following:

(1)	Lack of Commission jurisdiction or improper service of the pleading initiating the proceeding.

(2)	Failure of a pleading to conform to this chapter or the inclusion of scandalous or impertinent matter.

52 Pa.Code § 5.101(a)(1) and (2).

Commission preliminary objection practice is analogous to Pennsylvania civil practice regarding preliminary objections.  Equitable Small Transportation Intervenors v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C‑00935435 (July 18, 1994).  Preliminary Objections in civil practice requesting dismissal of a pleading will be granted only where the right to relief is clearly warranted and free from doubt.  Interstate Traveller Services, Inc. v. Pa. Dept. of Environment Resources, 406 A.2d 1020 (Pa. 1979); Rivera v. Philadelphia Theological Seminary of St. Charles Borromeo, Inc., 595 A.2d 172 (Pa.Super. 1991).  The Commission follows this standard.  Montague v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 66 Pa. PUC 24 (1988).

The Commission may not rely upon the factual assertions of the moving party but must accept as true for purposes of disposing of the motion all well-pleaded, material facts of the nonmoving party, as well as every inference from those facts.  County of Allegheny v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 490 A. 2d 402 (Pa. 1985); Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pa., 551 A.2d 602 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1988).  The Commission must view the Complaint in this case in the light most favorable to Complainant and should dismiss the Complaint only if it appears that Complainant would not be entitled to relief under any circumstances as a matter of law.  Equitable Small Transportation Intervenors v. Equitable Gas 
Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C-00935435 (July 18, 1994).

Complaint and Objections

		A fair reading of Mr.  Kroger’s Complaint suggests that he is claiming that DLC
acted in bad faith in providing him service.  Complaint ¶ 4.  He raises claims under federal statues, federal and state criminal, and civil proceedings, and he seeks compensatory relief and punitive damages.  Complaint ¶ 5.  DLC objects that 1) the Commission lacks jurisdiction over claims rooted in federal statutes; 2) the Commission lacks jurisdiction to award compensatory or punitive damages; and 3) allegations of conspiracy or misconduct involving municipality employees are entirely unrelated to Complainant’s electric utility service; and therefore, constitute scandalous or impertinent matter, which should be stricken from the Complaint.





Analysis

		Request for Monetary Award

		To the extent Complainant is seeking an award of compensatory and/or punitive damages, DLC is correct.  The Commission lacks authority to award monetary damages.  See In Re: Melograne, 812 A. 2d 1164 (Pa. 2002); Feingold v. Bell of Pennsylvania, 383 A.2d 791 (Pa. 1977).  In Feingold, our Pennsylvania Supreme Court explained the Commission’s lack of authority to award monetary damages.

Since the PUC is a creature of statute, it has only those powers which are expressly conferred upon it by the Legislature and those powers which arise by necessary implication.  Allegheny County Port Authority v. Pa. P. U. C., 427 Pa. 562, 237 A.2d 602 (1967); Delaware River Port Authority v. Pa. P. U. C., 393 Pa. 639, 145 A.2d 172 (1958).

It is relevant to the case now before us that the statutory array of PUC remedial and enforcement powers does not include the power to award damages to a private litigant for breach of contract by a public utility.  Nor can we find an express grant of power from which the power to award such damages can be fairly implied.  Thus, it can be concluded that the Legislature did not intend for the PUC to have such a power.

Id. 383 A.2d. at 794.

		Applying the Court’s ruling in Feingold to the present proceeding, Complainant cannot recover compensatory damages at this administrative agency.  Requests for compensatory damages should be made before a court of common pleas or a district magistrate. 

[bookmark: _Hlk136696158]		Therefore, as the moving Party, DLC prevails on the issue that the Commission lacks jurisdiction to award monetary damages as a matter of law.  Accordingly, in the ordering paragraphs below, DLC’s Preliminary Objections will be sustained to the extent Complainant’s request for relief includes monetary damages, and Complainant’s request for monetary damages will be dismissed.
		Federal Statutes, Criminal, and State Civil Allegations		

		Complainant alleges that DLC violated federal statutes, that is, the
United States Code, Equal Rights Under the Law, 42 USC § 1981, Civil Action for Deprivation 
of Rights 42 USC § 1983, and Conspiracy to Interfere with Civil Rights, 42 USC § 1985.  Complainant asserts DLC is involved with municipal employees, who are subject to federal criminal and state civil proceedings.   

There is nothing in the Commission enabling legislation authorizing the Commission to adjudicate allegations stemming from federal statutes, criminal or civil proceeding.  See Alkhatib v. PECO Energy Company, PUC Docket No. C-2011-2242125 (Opinion and Order entered January 12, 2012); Coppedge v. PECO Energy Company, PUC Docket No. F-2009-2135893 (Opinion and Order entered August 3, 2010).

Therefore, as the moving Party, Duquesne Light prevails on its objections that 1) the Commission lacks jurisdiction to adjudicate allegations or issues arising under federal statutes and 2) allegations of municipal employees’ misconduct are scandalous and impertinent matter and must be stricken from the Complaint.  Accordingly, in the ordering paragraphs below, these allegations will be struck from the Complaint.

Reasonableness of Service

Resolution of DLC’s above objections does not end the discussion.  Complainant also alleges that DLC 1) has an ongoing pattern of misconduct and bad faith 2) terminated his electric service without cause and 3) was involved with municipal employees to withhold termination notices, resulting in the denial of his LIHEAP grant. Complaint ¶ 4.  DLC denies these remaining allegations.  However, for the purpose of ruling upon DLC’s request to dismiss the Complaint in its entirety, Complainant’s remaining allegations must be accepted as true.  Therefore, viewing the remaining allegations in the light most favorable to Complainant as the nonmoving Party, Complainant has asserted issues as to the reasonableness of service.

		Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501, mandates that a public utility must furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and must make such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience and safety of its patrons and the public.  Upon finding that the service or facilities of a public utility are unreasonable, unsafe, or inadequate, the Commission may prescribe, by regulation or order, the reasonable, safe, and adequate service, or facilities that a public utility must furnish or employ.  66 Pa.C.S. § 1505.  Section 102 of the Code, 66 Pa.C.S. § 102, defines “service” as:

Used in its broadest and most inclusive sense, includes any and all
acts done, rendered, or performed, and any and all things furnished or supplied, and any and all facilities used, furnished, or supplied by public utilities . . . .

(Emphasis added).  A utility’s “service” is not merely confined to the distribution of utility
service, but also includes “any and all acts” related to that function.  West Penn Power Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 75 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1990).  

		The Pennsylvania courts have ruled as follows:

	“When a utility’s failure to maintain reasonable and adequate service is alleged, regardless of the form of the pleading in which the allegations are couched, it is for the PUC initially to determine whether the service provided by the utility has fallen short of the statutory standard required of it.”  (Citations omitted).

DiSanto v. Dauphin Consolidated Water Supply Company, 291 Pa.Super. 440, 436 A.2d 197 (1981).

		If Complainant’s allegations are proven by a preponderance of evidence at a hearing, the allegations may well constitute a violation of the reasonable and adequate service requirements of Section 1501 of the Code.  Honey Brook Water Co. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 647 .2d 653 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1994), app. denied, 655 A.2d 518 (PA. 1995).  Furthermore, DLC may ultimately face a civil penalty and/or an order to take remedial action, in the event Complainant prevails in establishing inadequate service on DLC’s part.

Dismissal Request

		For the reasons stated above, DLC’s request to dismiss the Complaint in its 
entirety must be denied.  There are questions of fact concerning DLC’s compliance with the reasonable service requirements of Section 1501 of the Code.  While the ultimate determination of facts will guide the outcome of the case, a factual dispute will prevent the grant of a preliminary motion to dismiss the case in its entirety.  Any doubt must be assumed in favor of Mr. Kroger, as the nonmoving Party.

		Complainant is cautioned that DLC’s preliminary motion for dismissal of the Complaint in its entirety is denied on purely procedural grounds and does not, in any way, give credence to either the substance of the Complaint or to the likelihood of Complainant’s success on the merits.  

		A complainant has the burden of showing that the named utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint to prevail on the merits of the complaint.  Patterson v. Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. PUC 196 (1990); Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Company, 50 Pa. PUC 300 (1976).  This must be shown by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 578 A.2d 600 (1990), alloc. den., 602 A.2d 863 (1992).  That is, by presenting evidence more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the other party.  Se-Ling Hosiery v. Marqulies, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  





		The utility company’s offense must be a violation of the Public Utility Code, the Commission’s regulations, or an outstanding order of the Commission.  66 Pa.C.S. § 701.  Complainant is responsible for proving that the utility has acted improperly, by providing testimony and documentary evidence, such as expert reports, photographs, and any other relevant materials necessary to support that finding, and that the Commission has the jurisdiction to 
provide the remedy.

		Settlement

The Parties are directed to attempt to resolve this matter or some portion thereof themselves.  The Parties are strongly encouraged to participate in settlement negotiations.  Settlement discussions are consistent with the Commission’s regulations.  See 52 Pa.Code §§ 5.231 and 69.391.
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

		1.	The Commission’s Rules of Administrative Practice and Procedure permit 
the filing of preliminary motions.

		2.	The Commission has been granted broad powers to regulate all public utilities doing business within the Commonwealth.

		3.	The Commission is empowered to determine whether a public utility is providing safe, adequate, and reasonable service.

		4.	The Commission lacks the authority to award monetary damages.

		5. 	The Commission’s procedural rules provide for the filing of preliminary objections on the grounds that a pleading contains scandalous or impertinent matter.


ORDER

		THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

[bookmark: _Hlk26353194]		1.	That Duquesne Light Company’s preliminary objections filed to the Formal Complaint of Todd Elliott Kroger at Docket No. C-2023-3038703 are sustained in part.

		2.	That Complainant Todd Elliott Kroger’s request for compensatory and punitive damages against Respondent Duquesne Light Company is dismissed from his Formal Complaint filed at Docket No. C-2023-3038703 for lack of Commission jurisdiction to award monetary damages.

[bookmark: _Hlk136858061]3.	That Complainant Todd Elliott Kroger’s allegations arising under federal statutes against Respondent Duquesne Light Company are dismissed from his Formal Complaint filed at Docket No. C-2023-3038703 for lack of Commission jurisdiction to adjudicate federal claims.   

4.	That Complainant Todd Elliott Kroger allegations asserting criminal and state civil proceedings against Respondent Duquesne Light Company are struck from his Formal Complaint filed at Docket No. C-2023-3038703 as impertinent matter. 

5.	That Respondent Duquesne Light Company’s request to dismiss the Complaint filed by Todd Elliott Kroger against Duquesne Light Company at Docket No. C-2023-3038703 is denied with respect to Complainant’s allegations concerning reasonableness of service.  



	6.	That consistent with the reasoning in this Order, this case shall be scheduled for hearing and the Parties so notified in writing.  

[image: CAJ8.JPG]
Date:  June 5, 2023					 
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TODD KOGER
515 KELLY AVENUE
PITTSBURGH PA  15221
412.758.4510
kogerfriend@gmail.com 

EMILY M FARAH COUNSEL
DUQUESNE LIGHT COMPANY
411 SEVENTH AVENUE
PITTSBURGH PA  15219
412.393.6431
efarah@duqlight.com 
Accepts eService
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